Appeal No. 24-CO-716



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 08/08/2025 04:01 PM Filed 08/08/2025 04:01 PM

HENRY ALLEN,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia **Criminal Division**

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

JACLYN S. FRANKFURT

ALICE WANG

* PAUL MANERI

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 3rd Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

* Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Does the compassionate release statute require courts to consider the totality of a person's circumstances to determine whether there are "extraordinary and compelling reasons" that warrant a sentence reduction?
- II. Does the compassionate release statute prohibit courts from considering a person's rehabilitation in determining the person's eligibility for compassionate release?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

In June 2023, Mr. Allen moved for compassionate release pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-403.04. R. 72 (Mot. at 1). He sought a reduction of the 45-year term of imprisonment that was imposed upon him in 2004, after a jury convicted him of murder, possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, and carrying a pistol without a license. R. 183–84 (Order at 1–2). The government filed an opposition to the compassionate release motion, R. 94 (Opp. at 1), and Mr. Allen filed a reply, R. 142 (Reply at 1). Judge Michael Ryan held a hearing on the motion on May 17, 2024 and denied the motion by written order on July 31, 2024. R. 183 (Order at 1). Mr. Allen filed a timely notice of appeal on August 5, 2024. R. 196 (Notice of Appeal).

Pursuant to this Court's order sua sponte expediting the appeal, Mr. Allen and the government filed cross-motions for summary disposition, and on November 15, 2024, Mr. Allen filed a reply in support of his motion for summary reversal. On July

¹ Citations to "R. *" and "S.R. *" refer to the PDF pagination of the appellate record and supplemental appellate record, respectively.

28, 2025, a motions panel denied the cross-motions for summary disposition and directed the parties to file briefs to be considered by a merits division.

This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

In the compassionate release litigation below, the trial court found that Henry Allen is "not a danger to the safety of any other person or the community." R. 191 (Order at 9) (quoting D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a)). But the court denied Mr. Allen's motion because it concluded that Mr. Allen—who was then 57 years old, has served more than 20 years in prison, has a history of stroke and other serious medical conditions, and "stands out" among his peers for his rehabilitation in prison, R. 193 (Order at 11)—had not demonstrated "[o]ther extraordinary and compelling reasons" for relief under the catch-all provision of the statute, D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a)(3). *See* R. 194 (Order at 12).²

The Compassionate Release Litigation

After serving more than 20 years of his 45-year sentence, Mr. Allen moved for a sentence reduction under the D.C. compassionate release statute. He sought relief under the statute's catch-all provision, D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a)(3), emphasizing that he "is close to the per se eligibility" for people who are 60 years or older and who have served 20 years or more of their sentence, R. 73 (Mot. at 2); see D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a)(2), and that taken together, his age, length of

² At the date of this filing, Mr. Allen is 58 years old.

incarceration, multiple medical conditions, vulnerability to COVID-19, and rehabilitation combine to form an "extraordinary and compelling reason" to reduce his sentence. R. 83 (Mot. at 12).

Mr. Allen suffers from multiple chronic medical conditions that seriously compromise his health and well-being. Most notably, he has experienced weakness on the left side of his body ever since he was hospitalized in 2008 for an acute stroke. R. 81 (Mot. at 10). To this day, Mr. Allen's left side drags, and his left hand balls into a fist on its own; moreover, his history of stroke puts him at higher risk of having another stroke. R. 81–82 (Mot. at 10–11). In addition to his stroke-related weakness, Mr. Allen has prediabetes, nerve pain in his legs, gastroesophageal reflux disease, arthritis in his knees and shoulders, lower back pain, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia. R. 80 (Mot. at 9). As a result of his stroke and his knee problems, Mr. Allen used a cane from 2008 until 2022, when prison staff took the cane away after observing Mr. Allen walking without it. S.R. 152. Mr. Allen argued that his health is "declining faster than it would on the outside" because of the constant stress and substandard medical care in prison. 5/17/24 Tr. at 9.

In addition to arguing that "his poor health generally" weighs in favor of finding him eligible for compassionate release, R. 143 (Reply at 2), Mr. Allen argued that his multiple chronic medical conditions increase his vulnerability to severe complications from COVID-19, which further contributes to his eligibility for relief.

R. 82 (Mot. at 11). Citing guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Mr. Allen argued that, despite being vaccinated, he remains at increased

risk of serious illness from COVID-19 due to his history of stroke, his prediabetes, and his hypertension. R. 82–83 (Mot. at 11–12).

Mr. Allen also argued that his "extraordinary rehabilitation" and leadership in prison not only demonstrate his lack of dangerousness, but also contribute to the extraordinary and compelling circumstances warranting his release. R. 74 n.2 (Mot. at 3); see also R. 143 (Reply at 2). Eight men who are or have been incarcerated with Mr. Allen wrote letters of support attesting that, after transforming himself in prison, Mr. Allen has dedicated his life to serving others through mentorship and violence prevention. Colie Long, a mentee and former student of Mr. Allen's who is now a program associate at the Prisons and Justice Initiative at Georgetown University, described Mr. Allen as a "diamond in the rough" and a "strong, positive role model" for other incarcerated people. S.R. 86. Mr. Long explained that Mr. Allen "has taken the initiative to . . . reeducate himself and find new methods of conflict resolution," and if he were released, he would be "a pillar of strength within the black community, and a shining beacon of hope for redemption." *Id*.

Those sentiments were echoed by Sean Branch, a site supervisor at the National Association for the Advancement of Returning Citizens (NAARC), who wrote that "Mr. Allen has been coordinating mediation and conflict resolution plans and strategies with our office for the past 2 years." S.R. 82. As part of that effort, Mr. Allen telephonically facilitated group discussions with at-risk youth, several of whom "gave up the street life for fear of getting incarcerated and are now either employed or in [the NAARC's] job readiness program." *Id.* Mr. Branch emphasized that "without Mr. Allen's involvement with our youth mentorship program, and

sharing his inspiring story of redemption and reform[,] there would be a lot more of our youth incarcerated or deceased." S.R. 83. And Mr. Allen also mentors other currently incarcerated people to help them grow and to prevent violence in prison. *See* R. 77–79 (Mot. at 6–8). The NAARC was so impressed by Mr. Allen's record as a role model that they offered him employment as an outreach specialist upon his release. S.R. 83. Mr. Allen urged that such evidence shows that he not only is "not dangerous," but also "affirmatively contributes to the success and rehabilitation of others." R. 143 (Reply at 2) (emphasis omitted).

Mr. Allen argued that even though his age falls a few years short of establishing "per se eligibility" for relief under the illustrative examples listed in subsections (a)(2) and (a)(3)(B) of the compassionate release statute, the totality of his circumstances—including his age, length of incarceration, multiple medical conditions, vulnerability to COVID-19, and rehabilitation—establishes "other extraordinary and compelling reasons" for relief under the catch-all provision in subsection (a)(3) of the statute. R. 73 (Mot. at 2) (noting that Mr. Allen is "close to" establishing "per se eligibility" under the statutory examples incorporating age and length of incarceration, and emphasizing that these factors "are only the beginning of his extraordinary and compelling circumstances"); R. 74 (Mot. at 3 & n.2) (noting that Mr. Allen's "extraordinary rehabilitation" is also "evidence . . . of the extraordinary and compelling circumstances justifying release"). In his reply pleading, Mr. Allen objected to the government's characterization of his eligibility argument as "rest[ing] entirely on his susceptibility to COVID-19." R. 142 (Reply at 1). Rather, Mr. Allen reiterated, while his heightened vulnerability to COVID-19

"add[s] weight to his claim of extraordinary and compelling circumstances," "the preponderance of [his] claim is his poor health generally, his age, his over 20 years of incarceration, and his extraordinary rehabilitation." R. 143 (Reply at 2) (emphasis added); see also id. ("Mr. Allen also argues that his success rehabilitating himself and other inmates adds to the extraordinary and compelling circumstances warranting relief." (emphasis added)).

At the hearing on the motion, Mr. Allen again argued that "being very close to 60 and having poor health, even if it doesn't put somebody in the kind of acute risk of death discussed in other parts of the statute, could still be an extraordinary and compelling circumstance[] justifying relief," and that the court should also consider his rehabilitation and "mix that in with some of the other things that the Court considers in terms of health and well-being" when deciding whether there is an extraordinary and compelling reason for relief. 5/17/24 Tr. at 11, 13.

The government conceded that the statutory list of "extraordinary and compelling reasons" for relief "was intended to be non-exhaustive." R. 108 (Opp. at 15). And it did not dispute that Mr. Allen's circumstances should be considered in their totality to determine whether they collectively establish an "extraordinary and compelling" reason for relief. Nonetheless, the government addressed each of Mr. Allen's circumstances in piecemeal fashion, arguing that "his health conditions simply don't rise to the level of anything extraordinary or compelling," that Mr. Allen is not "acutely" vulnerable to COVID-19, and that a person's rehabilitation would have to be "truly exceptional and extraordinary . . . if it even could ever be

considered a cause for extraordinary and compelling reasons . . . And Mr. Allen just simply is not there." 5/17/24 Tr. at 61–62; *see id.* at 63.³

After the initial briefing was completed, the court issued an order noting that based on the pleadings, "the matter of 'extraordinary and compelling reasons' justifying [Mr. Allen's] release appears to be[]at most in equipoise." R. 150 (11/17/2023 Order at 2). The court therefore requested "further details on Mr. Allen's health conditions and resulting risk from COVID-19, including but not limited to . . . medical special opinion testimony." R. 149 (11/17/2023 Order at 1). In response to that request, Mr. Allen supplemented the record with a sworn affidavit from Marcia Bell, a registered nurse, who opined that Mr. Allen faces "more than an above average risk for severe COVID-19 outcomes as compared to the general population" based on his age, gender, ethnicity, history of stroke, obesity, hypertension, and incarceration. S.R. 160 (Bell Aff. at 7).

The Trial Court's Order

In a written order, the trial court concluded that Mr. Allen proved that he is no longer dangerous, but that he failed to demonstrate an extraordinary and compelling reason for release. The court's non-dangerousness finding highlighted that "Mr. Allen's paucity of infractions and lack of violence in his almost 20 years incarcerated stands out among other disciplinary records this Court has seen," that

³ The government's written opposition did not respond to Mr. Allen's argument that his rehabilitation contributes to his eligibility for relief under the catch-all provision. Most of the government's briefing was devoted to COVID-19 vulnerability, *see* R. 96–105, 108–113 (Opp. at 3–12, 15–20), which the government mischaracterized as Mr. Allen's sole argument for establishing eligibility, R. 108 (Opp. at 15).

Mr. Allen "has a strong record of educational and vocational programming," that Mr. Allen's many supporters had attested to his "mentorship within the prison system and de-escalation of issues that commonly arise," and that Mr. Allen's incourt demonstration of his mentorship skills was "unique and helpful." R. 193–94 (Order at 11–12). But the court rejected Mr. Allen's argument that his rehabilitation and positive influence on others could be considered as part of the extraordinary and compelling reason analysis, stating that the argument had "little textual or precedential support" and ruling that rehabilitation is "relevant" only "to the question of dangerousness." R. 190–91 (Order at 8–9).

The court examined the rest of Mr. Allen's circumstances in isolation, ruling that none of them could establish Mr. Allen's eligibility under the catch-all provision because none of them satisfied the statutory examples of extraordinary and compelling reasons for relief. The court gave no weight to Mr. Allen's age and length of incarceration, asserting that the compassionate release statute "sets an explicit age limit for eligibility" and that "a person who is not yet sixty years old must seek alternative arguments for relief." R. 190 (Order at 8). Most of the court's analysis focused on COVID-19 vulnerability; on that score, the court declined to credit Nurse Bell's opinions and held that "[w]ithout further evidence in the form of specialized opinion testimony, Mr. Allen does not make an individualized showing of acute vulnerability." *Id.* The court did not address how Mr. Allen's medical conditions might contribute to a finding of extraordinary and compelling reasons for release apart from increasing his vulnerability to COVID-19. And, as previously stated, it held that it could not consider rehabilitation outside of the dangerousness inquiry.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The D.C. compassionate release statute offers the chance of a reduced sentence for any incarcerated person who can prove: (1) that he is not dangerous, and (2) that "extraordinary and compelling reasons" warrant a sentence reduction. D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a)(3). The latter requirement is meant to be "flexible" in order to allow "trial courts to exercise appropriate discretion to review the compelling facts of a case." Autrey v. United States, 264 A.3d 653, 655–56 (D.C. 2021) (quoting Page v. United States, 254 A.3d 1129, 1130 (D.C. 2021) (internal quotation marks omitted)). That flexible standard requires courts to consider the totality of a person's circumstances to determine whether their "individualized circumstances, taken in the aggregate, present an 'extraordinary and compelling' reason to grant compassionate release." United States v. Trenkler, 47 F.4th 42, 47 (1st Cir. 2022). The trial court erred by instead viewing each of the factors that Mr. Allen cited in support of his request for a sentence reduction "in isolation, rather than as a factor in the totality of the circumstances." United States v. Vaughn, 62 F.4th 1071, 1072 (7th Cir. 2023) (quoting *District of Columbia v. Wesby*, 583 U.S. 48, 60 (2018)).

The trial court also erred by concluding that it could not consider Mr. Allen's exceptional rehabilitation as a contributing factor in the totality of the "extraordinary and compelling reasons" analysis. Consistent with the D.C. Council's intent to give courts "appropriate discretion" to apply the "flexible" eligibility standard, *Autrey*, 264 A.3d at 655–56, the statute places no categorical limit on the factors that courts may consider when determining whether a person's circumstances are

"extraordinary and compelling." Instead, the Council *omitted* the federal restriction that "[r]ehabilitation of the defendant alone shall not be considered an extraordinary and compelling reason," 28 U.S.C. § 994(t). In light of that omission and the absence of any other limiting provision in the statute's text, Superior Court judges retain broad discretion to consider any factor or combination of factors—including rehabilitation—to determine whether a movant's individualized circumstances are "extraordinary and compelling."

ARGUMENT

I. BACKGROUND

In 2020, the D.C. Council "created a local compassionate release statute in the image of the federal statute, although the local statute diverges [from the federal one] in certain respects." D.C. Council, Comm. on the Judiciary & Pub. Safety Rep. on Bill 23-127, at 27 (Nov. 23, 2020) (hereinafter "Committee Report"). One common thread between the two statutes is the requirement that a person seeking a modified sentence must demonstrate that "extraordinary and compelling reasons warrant such a modification." D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a)(3); *see* 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(1)(A)(i). But the statutes diverge in how they define the term "extraordinary and compelling."

Congress left it to the U.S. Sentencing Commission to "describe what should be considered extraordinary and compelling reasons for sentence reduction," with the sole limitation that "[r]ehabilitation of the defendant alone shall not be considered an extraordinary and compelling reason." 28 U.S.C. § 994(t). At the time D.C. Code § 24-403.04 was enacted, the Sentencing Commission's policy statement for sentence reductions under 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(1)(A) provided examples of

"extraordinary and compelling reasons" that covered medical conditions, age, and family circumstances. U.S.S.G. § 1B1.13 cmt. n.1(A)–(C) (2018). It also included a catch-all for "extraordinary and compelling reason[s] other than, or in combination with," the enumerated reasons. *Id.* § 1B1.13 cmt. n.1(D).

Applying that version of the policy statement, "district courts around the country based sentence reductions on dozens of reasons and combinations of reasons." 2023 Amendments to the Sentencing Guidelines at 10 (effective Nov. 1, 2023), https://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/amendment-process/official-text-amendments/202305_Amendments.pdf. When the Sentencing Commission amended the policy statement in 2023, it retained the "Other Reasons" catch-all. In doing so, it "specifically rejected a requirement that 'other reasons' be similar in nature and consequence to the specified reasons. Rather, they need be similar only in gravity, a requirement that inheres in the statutory requirement that they present extraordinary and compelling reasons for a sentence reduction." *Id.*; *see* U.S.S.G. § 1B1.13(b)(5) (2023).

The Sentencing Guidelines also incorporate Congress's mandate that rehabilitation alone cannot be considered an extraordinary and compelling reason for a sentence reduction. *See* U.S.S.G. § 1B1.13 cmt. n.3 (2018); U.S.S.G. § 1B1.13(d) (2023). That mandate traces back to the 1984 Sentencing Reform Act, a "watershed statute" that "represented the results of a movement determined to eliminate rehabilitative goals and indeterminacy in sentencing." *United States v. McCall*, 56 F.4th 1048, 1052 (6th Cir. 2022) (en banc). Spurred by skepticism of the prospect that rehabilitation could occur or be measured in a prison setting, "Congress

abolished federal parole and forbade the federal courts from 'modify[ing] a term of imprisonment once it has been imposed[.]" *United States v. Jones*, 980 F.3d 1098, 1103–04 (6th Cir. 2020) (quoting Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98–473, Title II, ch. 2, § 212(a), 98 Stat. 1837, 1998 (enacting 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c))). That general prohibition contained an exception: courts could still reduce a sentence after finding that "extraordinary and compelling reasons warrant such a reduction." 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(1)(A) (1984). But "consistent with the rejection . . . of the rehabilitation theory as the basis for determining the length of a term of imprisonment," Congress specified "that 'rehabilitation of the defendant alone shall not be considered an extraordinary and compelling reason' for reducing the sentence." S. Rep. 98–225 at 179 (1983).

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