BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CO-716

Clerk of the Court Received 09/08/2025 03:25 PM Filed 09/08/2025 03:25 PM

HENRY ALLEN,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANINE F. PIRRO United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN ELIOT FOLSOM

- * CHIMNOMNSO N. KALU, N.Y. Bar Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Chimnomnso.Kalu@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2002-FEL-6601

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no case law in this jurisdiction requiring a trial court to consider a compassionate-release movant's stated extraordinary-and-compelling reasons for release together as opposed to individually. Even assuming that such a requirement exists, the trial court appropriately considered Allen's stated reasons for release.

Moreover, the trial court appropriately declined Allen's invitation to consider rehabilitation as part of his extraordinary-and-compelling reason for release. The text, legislative history, and current controlling case law make clear that the trial court should consider rehabilitation in the context of analyzing whether a compassionate-release movant remains a danger to the community.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Denying Allen's Compassionate-Release Motion.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles.

The District's compassionate-release statute provides:

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the court shall modify a term of imprisonment imposed upon a defendant if it determines the defendant is not a danger to the safety of any other person or the community, pursuant to the factors to be considered in 18 U.S.C. §§ 3142(g) and 3553(a) and evidence of the defendant's rehabilitation while incarcerated, and:
 - (1) The defendant has a terminal illness, which means a disease or condition with an end-of-life trajectory;
 - (2) The defendant is 60 years of age or older and has served at least 20 years in prison; or
 - (3) Other extraordinary and compelling reasons warrant such a modification, including:
 - (A) A debilitating medical condition involving an incurable illness, or a debilitating injury from which the defendant will not recover;
 - (B) Elderly age, defined as a defendant who:

- (i) Is 60 years of age or older;
- (ii) Has served the lesser of 15 years or 75% of the defendant's sentence; and
- (iii) Suffers from a chronic or serious medical condition related to the aging process or that causes an acute vulnerability to severe medical complications or death as a result of COVID-19;
- (C) Death or incapacitation of the family member caregiver of the defendant's children; or
- (D) Incapacitation of a spouse or a domestic partner when the defendant would be the only available caregiver for the spouse or domestic partner.
- D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a). It is the compassionate-release movant's "burden to establish they are non-dangerous by a preponderance of the evidence." *Bailey v. United States*, 251 A.3d 724, 729 (D.C. 2021). It is likewise the movant's burden to establish eligibility by a preponderance of the evidence. *Autrey v. United States*, 264 A.3d 653, 659 (D.C. 2021). The movant must show both non-dangerousness and eligibility, so a failure to show either forecloses early release. *See id.* at 654 ("the statute's two core requirements" are "that [the defendant] is both eligible and non-dangerous").

This Court reviews the denial of a motion for compassionate release for abuse of discretion. *Colbert v. United States*, 310 A.3d 608, 612 (D.C.

2024). The trial court's discretion must be "founded upon correct legal principles" and "drawn from a firm factual foundation." *In re D.B.*, 879 A.2d 682, 691 (D.C. 2005) (quoting *In re J.D.C.*, 594 A.2d 70, 75 (D.C. 1991), and *Johnson v. United States*, 398 A.2d 354, 364 (D.C. 1979)).

B. Discussion.

1. The trial court considered the totality of the circumstances.

As Allen concedes (Brief at 25), this Court has never squarely held that the trial court *must*, in evaluating a movant's extraordinary-andcompelling reasons for release, consider those reasons together rather than individually. And although some federal circuit courts "have held that it is *permissible* to consider reasons jointly as well as severally," United States v. Vaughn, 62 F.4th 1071, 1072-73 (7th Cir. 2023) (emphasis supplied) (citing *United States v. Ruvalcaba*, 26 F.4th 14, 28 (1st Cir. 2022) and *United States v. McGee*, 992 F.3d 1035, 1048 (10th Cir. 2021)), at least one federal circuit has said just the opposite. See United States v. McKinnie, 24 F.4th 583, 588 (6th Cir. 2022) ("[W]hy would combining unrelated factors, each individually insufficient to justify a sentence reduction, amount to more than the sum of their individual parts?"); United States v. McCall, 56 F.4th 1048, 1066 (6th Cir. 2022) (same). Given that existing, noncontrolling case law indicates only that a court *may* consider multiple reasons together to constitute an extraordinary-and-compelling reason for release, the trial court here can hardly be faulted for instead considering Allen's reasons individually. *See Johnson v. United States*, 398 A.2d 354, 361 (D.C. 1979) ("Discretion signifies choice . . . and do[es] not preordain a single permissible conclusion. . . ."). ⁴

In any event, the trial court's order here suggests that it did consider the totality of the circumstances in ruling on Allen's compassionate-release motion. The court acknowledged that "Allen requests compassionate release on the grounds that his 'extraordinary transformation,' medical conditions and risk of COVID-19 complications or death as a result of his medical conditions, constitute an 'extraordinary and compelling reason'" to modify his sentence (R. 184 (emphasis supplied)). The court expressly recognized that it could "consider all evidence to find a[n] 'extraordinary and compelling' reason that warrants

⁴ Allen's argument (Brief at 20 & n.9; MSR at 2-3) that this Court has explicitly directed trial courts to address the "totality of the circumstances" relies on an unpublished disposition, in violation of this Court's rules. D.C. App. R. 27(d)(3), 28(g).

resentencing" (R. 185). The heading above the court's discussion of Allen's stated extraordinary-and-compelling reasons was also framed in the conjunctive (R. 186 ("Mr. Allen's health conditions and rehabilitative efforts do not present a basis for statutory relief")). And the court's substantive discussion makes clear that it (1) also considered Allen's argument that his age and prison time thus far, "in addition to his susceptibility to COVID-19 and medical concerns," were "closely analogous" to a statutory extraordinary-and-compelling reason for release and (2) appropriately (as discussed infra) declined to consider rehabilitation as part of that same calculus (R. 191). That Allen does not like the manner in which the trial court ultimately weighed his arguments does not mean that the trial court erred in its analysis.⁵

Moreover, even assuming there are some cases in which multiple, individually insufficient circumstances could combine to establish

_

⁵ The fact that the trial court examined each reason presented by Allen sequentially does not mean that the court engaged in a "divide-and-conquer analysis" (Brief at 24 (citation omitted)). The court logically had to weigh the merits of each proffered reason individually before it could assess them together. That it found that certain factors did not, by themselves, make Allen eligible (see *id*. at 23-24) does not mean that the court failed to *consider* Allen's argument that, taken together, they could make him eligible; the court simply disagreed.

"extraordinary and compelling" reasons for release, Allen's is not such a case. First, Allen is fully vaccinated against COVID-19, and, although he was given the opportunity to do so, failed to present admissible evidence showing that he still faces an acute vulnerability to severe illness or death from COVID-19 despite vaccination. The trial court specifically requested "any further details on Mr. Allen's health conditions and resulting risk from COVID-19" (R. 150 (Nov. 17, 2023, Order at 1-2)). Allen does not challenge the trial court's refusal to credit his expert's affidavit "without a showing of admissibility" given the trial court concerns about whether the affiant was qualified to offer the specialized opinions contained in her affidavit (R. 188 (Order at 6 ("the defense did not further expand the record as it related to Mr. Allen's specific medical claims"))). Because the trial court was left to evaluate Allen's medical evidence without the information the court had requested to understand the impact of that evidence, Allen cannot now reasonably complain that the trial court did not fully consider his medical conditions either individually or together with his other claimed circumstances. *Bailey*, 251 A.2d at 729 (defendant bears burden to show entitlement to release). Second, it is not clear why the fact that Allen is a few years shy of 60 should weigh in favor of release. This circumstance is common, not "extraordinary": many prisoners incarcerated for lengthy terms will near the age of 60 at some point, and nearly all will be able to point to additional factors in their favor. And again, as set forth infra, the trial court appropriately declined to consider Allen's rehabilitation in the context of its extraordinary-and-compelling analysis. Accordingly, Allen's arguments (Brief at 15-25; MSR at 1-2, 9, 16) that the trial court erred by considering each alleged extraordinary-and-compelling reason in isolation rather than in combination must fail.

2. The trial court correctly considered rehabilitation solely in the context of dangerousness.

Contrary to Allen's claim (Brief at 25-33; MSR at 2, 17-18), the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in considering rehabilitation in the context of dangerousness and declining to double-count that rehabilitation as an extraordinary-and-compelling reason for release. First, nothing in the text of § 24-403.04(a) explicitly obligates the trial court to consider rehabilitation as part of a defendant's extraordinary-and-compelling reason for release. Second, this Court's published precedent supports the trial court's conclusion about the appropriate role

of rehabilitation in the compassionate-release analysis. As this Court recently stated, a defendant seeking compassionate release must make two showings: "that the movant is (1) not a danger to the safety of any other person or the community, and (2) eligible for release[.]" *Stringer v*. United States, 317 A.3d 875, 877 (D.C. 2024) (internal quotations marks and footnote omitted). In a footnote specifically discussing the dangerousness requirement, this Court elaborated that "an individual must show that the individual is 'not a danger to the safety of any other person or the community' based on factors from 18 U.S.C. §§ 3142(g) and 3553(a) 'evidence of the defendant's rehabilitation and while incarcerated." Id. at 877 n.3 (quoting D.C. Code § 24-403.04(a)). Thus, given the existing law of this jurisdiction, the trial judge correctly considered Allen's rehabilitative efforts as part of its dangerousness analysis. See R. 192-194 (Order at 10-12) (finding that Allen's disciplinary record, educational and vocational programming, and family and community support outweighed his "lengthy criminal history

involving violence and weapons" and "the violent nature of the offense for which Mr. Allen is incarcerated"). ⁶

Indeed, the text and structure of § 24-403.04 demand the conclusion that rehabilitation be considered in the context of dangerousness. Section 24-403.04 requires modification of a defendant's sentence if the court makes two findings. First, the court must find that the defendant is not a danger to a person or the community, "pursuant to the factors to be considered in 18 U.S.C. §§ 3142(g) and 3553(a) and evidence of the defendant's rehabilitation while incarcerated." § 24-403.04(a). Second, the court must find that the defendant is eligible for release for "extraordinary and compelling reasons." § 24-403.04(a)(1)-(3). The statute "lists six examples of 'extraordinary and compelling reasons' for relief: two primary examples and four 'other' illustrative examples in a catch-all provision." *Autrey*, 264 A.3d at 656. The primary examples are

_

⁶ To be sure, federal cases construing the federal compassionate-release statute are "highly relevant" in construing the D.C. compassionate-release statute. *Bailey*, 251 at 729-730. Although federal authority might be persuasive, the trial court was not obligated to rely on these cases where, as here, the defendant advanced an argument supported by language about rehabilitation contained in the federal statutory scheme but conspicuously absent from the D.C. statute.

that the defendant either has a "terminal illness" or has served at least 20 years in prison and is at least 60 years old. § 24-403.04(a)(1)-(2). The illustrative examples are: a debilitating medical condition; elderly age, defined as a defendant who is at least 60 years old, has served a certain portion of his sentence, and suffers from a chronic medical condition or is acutely vulnerable to COVID-19; death or incapacitation of the caregiver of the defendant's children; and incapacitation of the defendant's partner when the defendant is the only available caregiver. § 24-403.04(a)(3)(A)-(D).

The inclusion of rehabilitation in the dangerousness analysis makes its omission from the eligibility provisions significant. The fact that a legislature "includes particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in another" suggests that it "intended a difference in meaning." *Digital Realty Tr., Inc. v. Somers*, 583 U.S. 149, 161 (2018) (quoting *Loughrin v. United States*, 573 U.S. 351, 358 (2014)). In some circumstances, an "omission" alone "can mean the legislature did not think about the idea at all." *In re M.M.D.*, 662 A.2d 837, 844 (D.C. 1995). But § 24-403.04's dangerousness provision shows that the Council clearly thought about rehabilitation, so its omission from the eligibility analysis

"must be assumed to be deliberate." Doe v. Burke, 133 A.3d 569, 574 (D.C. 2016). "When the legislature uses a term or phrase in one . . . provision but excludes it from another, courts do not imply an intent to include the missing term in [the] . . . provision where the term or phrase is excluded." Id. (alterations in original) (quoting 2A Norman Singer & Shambie Singer, Sutherland Statutes and Statutory Construction § 46.6 (7th ed. 2015)). The Court should thus not imply an intent to include rehabilitation in the extraordinary-and-compelling-reasons analysis. To the contrary, the court should infer the opposite: "it is generally presumed that [the legislature] acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclusion or exclusion." Id. (quoting Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23 (2016)). If the D.C. Council had intended to include rehabilitation as a possible "extraordinary and compelling reason[]" warranting a sentencing modification, it would have said so, rather than referencing it solely in connection with the compassionate-release statute's dangerousness inquiry.

That conclusion is unaffected by the fact that the list of "extraordinary and compelling reasons" in § 24-403.04(a)(3) is not exhaustive or exclusive. *See Autrey*, 264 A.3d at 656 (describing it as a

"non-exhaustive catch-all provision"); see also, e.g., Aboye v. United States, 121 A.3d 1245, 1249 (D.C. 2015) ("The participle including typically indicates a partial list.") (quoting Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)). Section 24-403.04's non-exclusive catch-all provision does not turn it into a generic sentence-reduction statute in which a court may consider any and all possible reasons for finding a defendant eligible for release. Instead, the extraordinary-and-compelling reasons enumerated in the statute necessarily cabin the catch-all provision's scope. "The maxim *noscitur a sociis*, that a word [or phrase] is known by the company it keeps, while not an inescapable rule, is often wisely applied where a word [or phrase] is capable of many meanings in order to avoid the giving of unintended breadth' to words in a statute." Burke v. Groover, Christie & Merritt, P.C., 26 A.3d 292, 302 n.8 (D.C. 2011) (quoting Jarecki v. G.D. Searle & Co., 367 U.S. 303, 307 (1961)); see also Paroline v. United States, 572 U.S. 434, 447 (2014) ("[i]t is . . . a familiar canon of statutory construction that [catchall] clauses are to be read as bringing within a statute categories similar in type to those specifically enumerated.") (alterations in Paroline); Bolz v. District of Columbia, 149 A.3d 1130, 1139 (D.C. 2016) ("The canon of ejusdem generis counsels that the meaning of a catchall term is informed by the list of words preceding it."). Each reason for eligibility listed in § 24-403.04 relates to age, illness, or incapacitation, either of the defendant or of a family member. See § 24-403.04(a)(1)-(3). The statute's catch-all provision is thus best read to encompass similar health-related reasons, such as an acute vulnerability to COVID-19 that does not satisfy the explicit conditions for eligibility. See Autrey, 264 A.3d at 656.

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